1990

Kipp Quinn v. Fenton Quinn, Jr. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The judgment that is the subject of this Appeal is a final order of the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County awarding attorney's fees to former counsel in a probate estate (R, pp. 325-326, Add. 1). The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction of this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-3 (2)(j) (1953). Pursuant to Rule 4-A, Rules of the Utah Supreme Court, this appeal was transferred to the Court of Appeals for disposition pursuant to an Order of the Supreme Court dated March 28, 1990.

The judgment of the District Court was dated December 19, 1989 (R, pp. 325-26; Add. 1). No findings of facts and conclusions and law were entered. Notice of Appeal was timely filed January 17, 1990 (R, p. 362).

IV.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in awarding over \$58,000.00 in fees and costs to the former, personal representative's counsel, especially in light of his removal as personal representative for wasting the estate?

2. Did the evidence presented by applicant, law firm justify fees of over 1/2 the estate when little or nothing applicant did benefited the estate.

3. Were costs of copying, expert witnesses, etc., properly awarded to law firm representing former personal representative?

4. Does the failure to make findings of fact and conclusions of law constitute reversible error?

V.

STATUTES AND ORDINANCES

1. 75-3-703 U.C.A. (1953 as amended 1975) - set out in Addendum.

2. 75-3-705 U.C.A. (1953 as amended 1977) - set out in Addendum.

3. 75-3-708 U.C.A. (1953 as amended 1975) - set out in Addendum.

4. 75-3-711 U.C.A. (1953 as amended 1975).

5. 75-3-712 U.C.A. (1953 as amended 1977) - set out in Addendum.

6. 75-3-718 U.C.A. (1953 as amended 1977) - set out in Addendum.

7. 75-3-719 U.C.A. (1953 as amended 1975) - set out in Addendum.

8. 75-3-611(2)(a) U.C.A. (1953 as amended 1975) - set out in Addendum.

9. 75-7-301 U.C.A. (1953 as amended 1975) - set out in Addendum.

10. 78-2-3(2)(j) U.C.A. (1953) - set out in Addendum

VI.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case. This is an appeal by the successor personal representative of the estate of Fenton Quinn from the award of attorney's fees to legal counsel for the former, personal representative, in the amount of \$51,668.00 plus \$4,477.24 reimbursement for costs in an estate which was valued by the former personal representative at \$90,300.00 (Ex. D-8, R. pp. 78-9). The former, personal representative was removed for cause for incurring excessive legal expenses (R. p. 190, Add. 2).

Appellant contends that it was evident that the claims of creditors would exceed the value of the assets of the estate, and that the former, personal representative and his legal counsel improvidently and in derogation of their fiduciary duty, unreasonably incurred legal services to deplete the estate and thereby deprive the creditors of any payment.

B. Course of Proceedings. This action was commenced June 12, 1984 (R. p. 15). Fenton Quinn, son of the deceased, was appointed personal representative June 27, 1984 (R. p. 18). The estate of the deceased's, former wife, whom he had murdered, petitioned the court for supervised administration and an order enjoining the waste of assets on September 14, 1984 (R. p. 34). On October 25, 1988, it filed a second Petition for Removal of Personal Representative (R. p. 175). The personal representative was ordered to file an inventory and to submit all legal fees and costs to the Court (R. p. 185). The personal representative was subsequently removed by the Court for wasting the assets of the estate and failing to file the

inventory (R. p. 190, Add. 2), and Kipp Quinn, deceased's stepson, was appointed successor, personal representative on June 20, 1989 (R. p. 197). He is the Appellant in this appeal.

Appellant was required to file a Petition to force former counsel for the estate to submit their application for fees they claimed (R. p. 205). At the initial hearing, former counsel were ordered to submit a detailed accounting by September 21, 1990 (R. p. 207). The trial was set on the attorney's fees issue for October 17, 1990. Appellant filed a Motion in Limine or to Strike on the grounds that none of the documentation nor fee information had been provided as of October 5, 1990 (R. p. 212).

C. Disposition At Trial. This matter was tried on November 7, 1990, before the Honorable Scott Daniels. The Court refused to grant the Motion in Limine or to Strike submitted by the Appellant and entered an order awarding former counsel and representative the sum of \$51,668.00 in legal fees and \$4,477.24 as reimbursement for costs. The Order also provided that payment of those sums shall have priority as a cost of expense of administration of the estate of Fenton Quinn (R. p. 325, Add. 1).

D. Relevant Facts. On May 24, 1984, Fenton Quinn shot and killed his wife while she was sleeping in her home. Shortly thereafter, he committed suicide (R. p. 15). Both Dawana and Fenton Quinn had children from previous marriages who were their respective heirs.

Fenton Quinn, Jr., (son), was appointed personal representative on June 27, 1984 (R. p. 18). An initial request by the heirs of Mrs. Quinn to have supervised administration and to obtain an order to

prevent the wasting of the assets of this estate was filed in September 1984 (R. p. 34), but was unsuccessful. Also, a Petition to determine the sequence of death arising from this homicide was filed August 10, 1987 (R. p. 43). The response filed on behalf of the Respondent alleged that Mrs. Quinn's estate could not recover based on such theories as suicide, estoppel, entrapment, assumption of the risk, consent, etc. (R. pp. 46-9).

A wrongful death action was commenced by the heirs of Dawana Quinn in the District Court. At the trial on the fee application, neither that file nor any other was introduced as evidence by Respondent. Appellant introduced a copy of the partial summary judgment as to liability which was granted in the tort action (R. p. 323, Exhibit D-5, Add. 3) and the subsequent judgment for approximately \$450,000.00 (R. p. 323, Ex. D-6, Add. 4). That judgment was appealed by Respondent solely on the sufficiency of the written claim which had been submitted. The Utah Court of Appeals rejected that appeal in total (R. p. 323, Exhibit D-12, Add. 5) (The fees for this appeal were not awarded by Judge Daniels).

In addition to the foregoing, Respondent commenced an action against a former partner of the deceased, Penny McGrath, to recover for a partnership interest. That case was later concluded by Appellant, after Respondent had been removed as personal representative. No file or other documentation was introduced by the Respondents to establish what work they had done other than a billing summary prepared immediately before trial (R. pp. 264-279).

The Appellant filed a Petition to remove the personal representative on the basis that he was wasting the estate by

incurring exorbitant debt for legal fees and had failed to file an inventory as provided by law (R. p. 175). On December 9, 1988, Judge Timothy Hansen entered an Order which stated as follows (R. p. 185-7, Ex. D-9):

1. The personal representative is hereby ordered to file an inventory of the estate and to send a copy to counsel for the Petitioner,
2. The personal representative and/or his attorney is hereby ordered to submit all legal fees and costs which they contend are due from the above entitled estate, up to and including the date of this hearing.

A trial was held on the Petition to remove Fenton Quinn before Judge Daniels on January 10, 1989 (R. p. 190). The trial court entered its Order, which stated in part (R. p. 190):

It appears to the Court that the personal representative may have improvidently incurred legal expenses and costs which approximate \$73,000.00 at the present time. There now exists the substantial likelihood that there will be little or nothing remaining for the heirs or creditors and the personal representative may not act in the best interest of the Estate and he should be removed pursuant to § 75-3-611(2)(a) U.C.A. (1953 as amended 1975) (subject to the stipulation or appointment of a successor representative) (Add. 2).

Kipp Quinn, Dawana's natural son and Fenton's stepbrother, was appointed successor, personal representative (R. p. 197). It was he who filed the Petition to force Nielson & Senior to submit their application for fees (R. p. 205). Prior to the trial, Judge Kenneth Rigtrup ordered Nielson & Senior to "submit detailed accounting and all back up documentation regarding their fees before

September 21, 1989 (R. p. 207).” They did not file their request for fees until October 10, 1989 (R. p. 214). This application, on the eve of trial, differed significantly from the earlier Application for \$73,000.00 in fees which they claimed as of January, 1989 (R. p. 190, Ex. D-3, Add. 6). In fact, the October, 1989, Application was for less compensation even though it included several months additional work. No “back up documentation” was ever provided or introduced into evidence. The new application also claimed compensation for work done after Respondent was removed by the Court. Kipp Quinn was appointed June 20, 1989 (R. p. 197). The trial court awarded fees for work after Nielson & Senior’s termination (R, pp. 258-9; 278).

At the trial regarding the award of fees, former counsel, Mr. Schmutz, on behalf of Nielson & Senior, proffered that they should be awarded a total of \$58,228.50 in legal fees and \$4,830.34 in costs (T. pp. 214-17, T. p. 6). Appellant reserved objections to the proffer as to adequacy, foundation, and on the basis of his previously filed Motion to Strike or Motion In Limine (T. p. 7, R. p. 212). The Motion was resubmitted to the Court at the conclusion of the evidence (T. p. 105-6), but not ruled upon. The fee application was accompanied by a billing summary prepared within 30 days of trial (R. pp. 218-317). Mr. Schmutz described the four areas for which they desired compensation as (1) estate administration; (2) action “brought by the estate against Penny McGrath to recover amounts that we believed Ms. McGrath owed to the estate”; (3) wrongful death claim; and (4) appeal from the wrongful death claim (T. p. 8).

Mr. Schmutz then proffered to the Court that the fees requested were (1) “necessary and beneficial to the estate”; (2) “they were reasonable in the amount of time spent and the items of work performed”; and (3) “they were reasonable in terms of billing amounts” (T. p. 9). No other evidence was presented except “average” billing rates for their lawyers (T. p. 10) and some general testimony by Mr. Ludlow as to difficulties in the probate (T. pp. 45-53). This was elicited on cross examination since the Court allowed the proffer without further elucidation. The trial court directed counsel for the Appellant to cross-examine the lawyers after the proffer (T. p. 9).

Fenton Quinn was originally appointed as personal representative on June 27, 1984 (R. p. 18). § 75-3-705 U.C.A. (1953), requires an inventory be prepared within three months. He refused to do this and Judge T. Hansen ordered him to complete it (R. p. 185). The inventory was prepared in 1988 (R. p. 78, Ex. D-8), four years after the death. The estimate of the estate was approximately \$100,000.00 (Ex. D-8, Add. 7).

Mr. Ludlow, one of Mr. Quinn’s lawyers, testified that he originally thought the estate was worth \$600,000.00 (T. p. 42). No basis for that valuation was given and none was possible since no inventory was prepared. By November, 1986, they “thought” the estate was worth between \$100,000.00 and \$175,000.00 (T. p. 26). The wrongful death trial was one month later, December 16, 1986. In 1988 they valued the estate at \$100,000.00 (T. p. 27). In January of 1989, Nielson & Senior submitted their legal bill of \$73,767.38 (T.

p. 13, Ex. D-3, Add. 6). This was after judgment had been entered against the estate for \$451,000.00 (T. p. 30, Ex. D-6, Add. 5).

The “inventory” (Ex. D-8, Add. 7) prepared four years late, contained nine items which were evaluated by Fenton Quinn on cross examination (T. pp. 78-80). The testimony demonstrated this estate was as follows:

1.	Home had been sold and after payment of the mortgage (T. p. 78)	\$19,000.00
2.	23 acres unimproved land (T. p. 79)	(-5,000.00)
3.	McGrath claim (T. p. 79)	\$75,000.00
4.	Misc. clothing, etc. (Ex. D-8, Add. 7)	\$ 50.00
5.	Checking account (Ex. D-8, Add. 7)	\$ 950.00
6.	Cadillac - gone (T. p. 79)	-0-
7.	1979 Chevrolet - gone (T. p. 79)	-0-
8.	Coins (Ex. D-8, Add. 7)	\$ 300.00
TOTAL:		\$90,300.00

The insurance company, under the homeowner’s policy, undertook the primary defense of the wrongful death action (T. p. 67). After summary judgment, they withdrew because the homicide was found to be intentional and, therefore, not compensable under their policy. The cost of appeal of the wrongful death judgment was not awarded and is not at issue in this appeal.

Nielson & Senior had no fee agreement (T. p. 22). Their arrangement according to Mr. Schmutz (T. p. 22):

* * * The understanding that I have always had was that we would seek approval and payment of our fees from the estate.

No statements were ever sent to Fenton Quinn. Mr. Schmutz gave the reasons as (T. p. 17):

The reason was because we knew that he wouldn't be able to pay it and we knew we would be presenting a fee application to the court. We weren't anticipating payment from him.

The initial estimate by Mr. Ludlow to probate this case was between \$2,000.00 and \$2,500.00 (T. p. 79). Based upon the former statutory fee schedule, § 75-3-718, U.C.A (1953), Mr. Ludlow confirmed that the fee for a \$90,000.00 estate would be approximately \$3,600.00 (T. p. 53).

The heirs of Dawana Quinn retained present counsel to probate her estate; prepare and complete the wrongful death action (resulting in a \$451,000.00 judgment); defend the appeal (which was won); and successfully challenge the administration of Fenton Quinn's estate (resulting in the removal of the personal representative). At the time of trial, the heirs had successfully prevailed in all matters and this counsel settled the McGrath case for this estate (R. p. 85). The former representative and their counsel produced no results nor benefit to the estate.

The Appellant testified regarding discrepancies between the billings of the attorneys for both parties (T. p. 94). Certain days when counsel were involved in the same activity (i.e., phone calls to each other or hearings), Nielson & Senior billed three to four times more time for the same activity (T. p. 94, Ex. D-13). Respondents had billed an insolvent estate 750 hours by November 1987 (Ex. D-4) and never advanced anything for the benefit of the estate. The Appellant had to expend approximately \$20,000.00 to protect this estate (T. p. 94) by obtaining removal of the Respondent and prove their claim which, except as to the exact amount of damages, was decided by summary judgment.

Immediately prior to trial, Respondents altered their billing (T. p. 14) and decided to reduce the amount from the \$73,000.00+ billed a year earlier (T. p. 14, Ex. D-3) to \$58,000.00 (T. p. 14) because now they “didn’t want to bill the estate where more than one attorney had done research on the same topic” Additional information was added to the fee application before trial (T. p. 15) yet none of the backup records were ever produced as ordered.

VII

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Submission of a computer printout of time allegedly spent in regards to an insolvent estate is insufficient to support an award of attorney’s fees. This is especially true when no evidence was introduced demonstrating that any benefit was achieved. No fees should be awarded when the personal representative and his counsel deplete the estate through outrageous legal costs to deprive

creditors and he has been removed for breach of his fiduciary duty to the estate.

2. The trial court improperly measured the requested legal fees by what was billed and Respondents did not establish (1) difficulty of litigation; (2) efficiency of the work performed; (3) reasonableness of hours; (4) fee customarily charged; (5) amount involved in the case; (6) result attained; (7) expertise involved; and (8) how much work was necessary.

3. The trial court abused its discretion in awarding litigation expenses to the Respondent for copying, telephone charges, and something called “professional services” (not legal fees).

4. The trial court was required to enter findings of facts and conclusions of law.

VIII ARGUMENT

Point 1

THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT AWARDING OVER ONE-HALF THE ESTATE IN LEGAL FEES TO A PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE AFTER HIS REMOVAL FOR WASTING THE ESTATE AND WHEN NO BENEFIT WAS ACHIEVED FOR THE ESTATE.

A personal representative is entitled to reasonable compensation. § 75-3-718 U.C.A. (1953) (Add. 8). Prior to 1987, the maximum amount allowed for a \$90,000.00 estate was approximately \$3,600.00. This section has now been amended to provide for “reasonable compensation” and the maximum fee

schedule deleted. § 75-3-719 U.C.A. (1953) (Add. 8), also provides for a personal representative to recover “necessary” expenses if proceedings are in “good faith”.

The fiduciary standard of the personal representative is that of a “prudent man dealing with the property of another”, §§ 75-7-301 and 75-3-711 U.C.A. (1953) (Add. 8). The representative must manage, protect, and preserve the estate, §§ 75-3-703 and 75-3-708 U.C.A. (1953 as amended 1975) (Add. 8), and prepare an inventory within three months § 75-3-705 U.C.A. (1953 as amended 1977) (Add. 8). If he improperly exercises his powers, he is liable to interested parties for the loss, 75-3-711 U.C.A. (1953) (Add. 8) and any transaction which is affected by a substantial conflict of interest is voidable by the interested parties, § 75-3-712 U.C.A. (1953 as amended 1977).

The only inventory of this estate (Exhibit 8, Add. 7) as explained by Respondent, showed the estate to be between \$90,000.00 and \$100,000.00 (T. p. 79). The estate’s liability on the wrongful death action was decided by summary judgment (R. p 323, Add. 4) and the trial on damages resulted in judgment of \$451,476.00 against the estate (R. p 323, Add. 5). The “McGrath” case was not resolved until the Appellant took it over and settled it for \$80,000.00 (T. p. 85). The probate was not completed and that responsibility has also been assumed by the Appellant.

In January, 1989, Nielson & Senior requested \$73,767.48 in fees and costs (Exhibit D-3, Add. 6). Immediately before trial, they reconstructed their billing schedules and requested a total of

\$63,058.84 (R. pp. 214-319). No backup documentation was ever provided as ordered by the Court on two occasions (R. pp. 184, 208).

During the time most of this work was performed, §75-3-718 U.C.A. (1953) established a maximum fee schedule under which Respondent would have recovered about \$3,600.00 in legal fees (See 1984 Ut. L. Rev. 553). Respondents attempted to establish entitlement to additional fees with a newly created billing statement; self-serving testimony that it was all “reasonable”; and, statements that the proceedings were more complicated than anticipated. The trial court was not and should not have followed the evidence submitted in that regard, *In re. Smith’s Estate*, 108 Utah 537, 162 P.2d 105 (1945).

The trial court apparently did not consider that the Appellants had expended \$20,000.00 (T. p. 94) for the benefit of the estate and that said fee was less than one-third the fee sought by the Respondent, nor that the Appellants had prevailed on every issue.

There is authority to the effect that the reasonable value of services rendered by an attorney in contesting the account of the personal representative is chargeable against the estate. *In re. Smith’s Estate*, supra. p. 111.

It is difficult to describe the trial court’s reasoning since no findings or conclusions were entered.

It was the Appellant that successfully established the wrongful death claim, settled the McGrath case; prevailed on the appeal; is currently completing the probate, and had the former representative

removed for wasting the estate. The record does not support that Respondent or counsel ever did anything for the benefit of the estate.

The Respondent cannot recover legal fees because he has no obligation to Nielson & Senior. There was no fee agreement (T. p. 22). The verbal agreement between Nielson & Senior and Respondent was that the firm would only seek its fees from the estate, not Fenton Quinn (T. p. 17). *Dennett v. First Security Bank*, 21 Ut.2d 5, 439 P.2d 459 (1968) citing *Banc. Prob. Prac.* 2nd Section 434:

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