1990

Kipp Quinn, successor personal representative v. Fenton Quinn, Jr. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

The trial court heard the evidence but did not believe Kipp's allegations that Fenton acted improperly to deprive the creditors and made a proper award of attorney's fees and expenses and disbursements.

2. Comparisons of attorney fees to the size of the

probate estate are improper in a very complex, difficult, and unusual estate. The Court considered all of the relevant factors necessary to make a sound decision after hearing the witnesses' testimony and reviewing the detailed billing statements introduced at the trial and judging the credibility thereof.

3. Awards of all expenses and disbursements of the Personal Representative in administering the estate and prosecuting and defending proceedings are specifically authorized by statute. A Personal Representative's expenses and disbursements includes not only "costs" as the term "costs" is used in the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, but also many other things. The Trial Court acted properly in its award of the expenses and disbursements.

4. The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered by the Court either in writing or orally in open court where they were recorded are sufficient to sustain its award of attorney's fees and expenses and disbursements.

VII.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE 1

WHETHER THE AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES AND EXPENSES BY THE TRIAL COURT IS WITHIN THE STATUTORY AUTHORITY OF THE TRIAL COURT AND IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE?

A Personal Representative is not personally liable on contracts entered into as a Personal Representative. §75-

3-808(1) U.C.A. (1953 as amended) (Add. 1). The Estate of the decedent is liable, §75-3-808(3) (1953 as amended) (Add. 1), and any successor Personal Representative is duty bound by the contracts of his predecessor. §75-3-808(3) and §75-3-715 U.C.A. (1953 as amended) (Add.1).

§75-3-718 U.C.A. (1953 as amended) (Add. 1), prior to Amendment, provided that the Personal Representative's attorney was entitled to reasonable compensation for services, but not to exceed the amounts set forth in the statutory fee schedule for a normal probate. Additional attorney's fees deemed just and reasonable by the Court could be awarded for extraordinary services. As amended, the statute now provides that attorney's are entitled to reasonable compensation for services, (Add. 1).

§75-3-719 U.C.A. (1953 as amended) (Add. 1) requires that the Estate of the decedent pay all necessary expenses and disbursements, including reasonable attorney's fees of the Personal Representative if he defends or prosecutes any proceeding in good faith, whether successful or not.

The foregoing statutes both authorize an award of attorney's fees and expenses for services rendered in Probate Proceedings. The only statutory standards are: reasonableness in amount and good faith on the part of the Personal Representative in deciding to defend or to prosecute which are questions of fact to be determined by the trial court. Regional Sales Agency v. Reichert, 784

P.2d 1210, 1215 (Utah App. 1989), Goddard v. Hickman, 685 P.2d 530, 534-535 (Utah 1984).

The old "benefit to the estate" test became obsolete when the legislature enacted these statutes unless 20/20 hindsight following an unsuccessful prosecution or defense manages to equate unsuccessful with bad faith. It seems inconceivable that successful prosecution or defense would ever be regarded as bad faith.

At the conclusion of the trial in these Proceedings-and after having heard all of the evidence relating to the fees for legal services rendered in connection with the Administration of the Estate, the Court found that: (a) this was an exceptionally unusual Estate; (b) that decedents [Glade and Dawana] died at the same time; (c) that there was a lack of records; (d) that there was animosity generated between the heirs of the two Estates; and (e) that the complexity of the Estate justified an award of \$24,181.00 fees and \$340.32 costs for the services rendered in the Estate Administration (T. pp. 114 & 115).

Based upon the proffer of evidence on the issue and the testimony of the attorneys who worked on the matters involved that the work was necessary, beneficial to the Estate, and reasonable in the amount of time spent, items of work performed, and in terms of amount, and that the rates charged were reasonable based upon the experience and expertise of the attorneys involved and the time and place

in the Salt Lake City market (T. pp. 9 & 10), the court made its decision.

Kipp's attorney had full opportunity to call witnesses and to cross-examine the attorneys who worked on the various Proceedings which produced the following uncontradicted testimony:

(a) The value of the decedent's estate at the outset was reasonably believed to be between \$500,000.00 and \$600,000.00, (T. p. 42). Kipp now complains that no breakdown was given, but his attorney did not ask for one, and cannot now be heard to complain about his own failure. Associated Industrial Development, Inc. v. Jewkes, 701 P.2d 486, 489 (Utah 1984).

(b) All of the records were in the possession of Kipp (T. pp. 43, 81 83, 95 & 96), and only some were produced as a result of discovery by Fenton's attorneys (T. p. 43).

(c) The circumstances surrounding the deaths were unclear. Fenton had received information which required investigation that the decedents had entered into a suicide pact. (T. p. 44).

(d) Kipp filed a Petition requesting that the Court Order that all of Glade's Estate passed to Dawana as a matter of law (T. p. 44) (R. 43). The matter was set for a speedy trial, and it was necessary to prepare extensively for that trial. A Court Order was required to get information from the police (T. pp. 45 & 46).

(e) The Cadillac which belonged to the Estate and which Fenton had in his possession was taken without Fenton's knowledge by Kipp's brother, Kelly, and was believed stolen which required legal assistance (T. p. 46). While Kelly had the car, it was repossessed by the bank and sold in a questionable manner (T. p. 47).

(f) Extensive efforts were made to get income tax information and records but they did not seem to exist. All of the records were kept in the decedent's home. (T. p. 48). The home and its contents were in the possession of Kipp. (T. pp. 95 & 96).

(g) A Complaint was filed by an alleged creditor of the Estate, Menlove, beyond the statutory period for filing claims on the theory that it involved insurance coverage. Legal services were rendered in connection with that legal action (T. pp. 50 & 51).

(h) The Estate appeared to be insolvent due to the many claims filed. (T. pp. 49 & 50). Kipp filed at least three different claims (R. pp. 32, 33, 83, 98) all of which were disallowed by Fenton (T. pp. 81, 104). Kipp only took further action on one of the three claims.

(i) The home was threatened with foreclosure, but even after a qualified buyer with the funds to purchase the home was located, Kipp threatened to not cooperate in the sale and to allow the Trustee on the Trust Deed to foreclose upon the home unless his unreasonable demands were met (T.

p. 54). Legal services were rendered assisting Fenton in meeting those demands without violating his fiduciary duty to the others who had an interest in the Estate (T. p. 54).

(j) Many extra appearances had to be made in connection with the Estate which are not required in a normal probate due to Kipp's constant interference (T. p. 65).

(k) The testimony given of specific occurrences which required legal assistance covered only part of the unusual things which occurred in the Estate Administration (T. p. 52).

The testimony regarding the unusual nature and complexity of the Estate Administration was that of a qualified, expert witness (T. pp. 64 & 65). In addition to the Estate Administration, testimony was given regarding legal services rendered in the Wrongful Death litigation and the McGrath litigation.

It is the testimony of the attorneys claiming the fees which is most valuable and relevant. Associated Industrial Development, Inc. v. Jewkes, 701 P.2d 486, 488 & 489 (Utah 1984), and the Court heard that testimony. The reasonableness of the fee to be awarded in regard to a Probate is a matter which is primarily within the peculiar knowledge and sound discretion of the Trial Court. In Re Smith's Estate, 162 P.2d 105, 111 (Utah 1945). The amount awarded as attorney's fees is within the sound discretion of the Trial Court, and unless there is a clear abuse of

discretion, the amount of the award by the trial court will not be disturbed. Turtle Management, Inc. v. Haggis Management, 645 P.2d 667, 671 (Utah 1982).

Cabrera v. Cottrell, 694 P.2d 622 (Utah 1985), provides at pp. 624 and 625 that:

"A court may consider, among other factors, the difficulty of the litigation, the efficiency of the attorneys in presenting the case, the reasonableness of the number of hours spent on the case, the fee customarily charged in the locality for similar services, the amount involved in the case and the result attained, and the expertise and experience of the attorneys involved."

These factors were placed into evidence and were considered by the Court in finding the fees awarded to be reasonable (T. pp. 114 through 117).

In regard to the Wrongful Death action, the evidence was that the amount claimed was \$650,000.00 (T. p. 27), that the amount awarded was nearly \$200,000.00 less the amount claimed (T. p. 30), and that Fenton offered to settle with Kipp for the value of all of the Estate's assets, prior to trial but that Kipp demanded a settlement of \$200,000.00 (T. pp. 29 & 94). Specifically, the Court found that Fenton's offer to settle for the total value of the Estate was reasonable under the circumstances, that the offer was unreasonably rejected, and that Dawana's heirs were at least as unreasonable as Glade's heirs (T. p. 116). Based upon the fact that a fair offer was made by the Estate and only due to that, the Court awarded \$20,706.00 attorney's fees and \$3,952.60 costs. (T. pp. 116 & 117).

The Court also found the \$6,781.00 fees and \$184.32 costs incurred in connection with the McGrath litigation to be reasonable. (T. p. 115). This finding was supported not only by the testimony of the attorneys who worked on the case, but also the admission of Kipp and his attorney that the work performed on McGrath was necessary and contributed to the benefit of the Estate. (T. pp. 85, 108 & 109).

Fenton's failure to file an Inventory until 1988 is immaterial. An Inventory was prepared by Fenton at the beginning of the probate which reflected, to the best of the information then available to Fenton, the assets in the Estate and their values. (T. p. 78). Kipp, not Fenton, was in possession of all of Glade's property and papers and had them from the time of Glade's death, including the stock and other things which Fenton believed his father owned (T. pp. 81 & 83). Kipp had possession of the decedent's home and contents at all times. (T. pp. 95 & 96).

§75-3-705 U.C.A. (1953 as amended) (Add. 1) requires only that an Inventory be prepared. There is no statutory requirement that the Inventory be filed, nor is it a breach of duty to fail to file one. Filing was optional until Fenton was ordered otherwise. Then he filed the most recent version of the Inventory which showed the revised market values and descriptions based upon the information which he had been able to gather up to that time as

required by §75-3-707 U.C.A. (1953 as amended) (Add. 1). It does not reflect all of the property Fenton believed Glade owned at his death since he had been unable to get any other documents from Kipp to prove Glade's ownership (R. pp. 43, 78, 80 & 81).

Fenton was not removed as Personal Representative for dereliction of his duty to prepare an Inventory, but only because it appeared to the court at that time, in other, separate, independent Proceedings that Fenton may have (emphasis added), improvidently incurred legal expenses and costs of approximately \$73,000.00. That is \$17,000.00 more than was finally awarded by the same Judge following the trial in these Proceedings (R. p. 190). \$17,000.00 is a significant difference. Kipp had his day in court and failed to produce any credible testimony at trial to support his wild allegations. In light of the fact that no fees or costs or expenses were awarded for the appeal (T. p. 117) it appears that the logical explanation of the court's action in removing Fenton in the prior, independent Proceedings is that it based its prior decision only upon Fenton's incurring attorney's fees and expenses for his appeal of the Wrongful Death Judgment. The trial court's acted consistently in both Proceedings.

In making its award of attorney's fees and expenses, the trial court also had a description of each item of work performed by the attorneys, the time required to perform

each item of work, and the date upon which the services were performed (R. pp. 219-317). It is exactly such accounting records which can substantiate the award of attorney's fees. IFG Leasing Co. v. Gordon, 776 P.2d 607, 608 (Utah 1989).

Although the fee for a normal probate of a \$90,000.00 estate in which there was no litigation under the old fee schedule was about \$3,600.00, this Estate had extensive litigation and was far from normal. The Court found that it was "...an exceptionally unusual estate..." (T. p. 114).

The decision of the Trial Court is authorized by statute and fully supported by the evidence at trial.

ISSUE 2

WHETHER THE AMOUNT OF ATTORNEY FEES AWARDED WAS WITHIN THE SOUND DISCRETION OF THE TRIAL COURT?

The Trial Court, as the trier of fact, considered the relationship of the fee to the complexity and exceptionally unusual nature of the probate, the novelty and difficulty of the issues involved, and the fact that the trial on the Wrongful Death matter was forced upon Fenton by the unreasonable demand of Kipp and his brothers that the Estate settle for more than the then determined value of all of the Estate assets (T. pp. 114-117).

Attorney's fees "...when awarded as allowed by law, are awarded as a matter of legal right...", and the total amount of attorney's fees awarded in a case cannot be said

to be unreasonable as a result of a comparison of those fees to the amounts involved. Cabrera v. Cotrell, 694 P.2d 622, 625 (Utah 1985). This Court said: "We will presume that the discretion of the trial court was properly exercised unless the record clearly shows the contrary." Regional Sales Agency v. Reichert, 784 P.2d 1210, 1215 (Utah App. 1989), (quoting Goddard v. Hickman, 685 P.2d 530, 534-535 (Utah 1984) [quoting State ex rel Road Comm'n v. General Oil Co., 22 Utah 2d 60, 62, 448 P.2d 718, 719 (Utah 1987)]).

As discussed above, the test of whether proceedings prosecuted or defended by the Personal Representative benefit the Estate economically or otherwise is no longer determinative but is now only one of many factors to be taken into account in determining whether or not a prosecution or defense was undertaken in good faith. Even then, the weight to be given the issue of benefit is questionable since benefit necessarily requires an element of success, and successful prosecution or defense is specifically not required under §75-3-719 U.C.A. (1953 as amended) (Add. 1).

Dennett v. First Security Bank, N.A., 439 P.2d 459 (Utah 1968) which was decided well before the adoption of the Utah Uniform Probate Code is distinguishable on its facts, and most, if not all, of the statements made therein, are no longer true under current Utah law. For example, the

assets of an estate belong not to the creditors but to the decedent's heirs subject to, among other things, the intervening rights of creditors under §75-3-101 U.C.A. (1953 as amended) (Add. 1).

There was no evidence at the trial that Fenton acted in bad faith in defending or prosecuting any matters, nor that there was any intent on the part of anyone to incur such large legal fees as to deprive the creditors of any compensation. These Proceedings are totally independent of prior Proceedings. Consistent with the fact that the Court previously thought that \$73,000.00 may have been improvidently incurred, it did not award \$73,000.00. It awarded \$17,000.00 less, which is a significant difference.

In Re Estate of Smith, 426 P.2d 575 (Montana 1967) in which the Order of the trial court as to the amount of attorney fees awarded was affirmed, was decided under the law of Montana which was very different than the Utah Uniform Probate Code. The facts are totally different from the facts in this case except that the initial Personal Representative was removed. Mrs. Smith, the Administratrix, failed to obtain a routine determination of heirship for two years, and as a result the estate lost the interest on \$260,000.00 during that time. Her failure to render accountings and file an inventory were violations of Montana law. The hardships suffered by the Smith estate were loss of interest on \$260,000.00 for two years, loss of

tax benefits, and imposition of tax penalties. In this case there is no evidence of loss of interest, violation of Utah law, loss of tax benefits, imposition of tax penalties or any other hardship to Glade's Estate, Further, Mr. Smith's debts of \$15,000.00 were small in relation to the size of the Estate, whereas the debts in Glade's Estate were very large.

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